APPELLANT(S)' OPENING BRIEF

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Robert Barnett, as Trustee of the RH 401(k) Plan,
Respondent,

v.

Erica Lynn Davis,
Austin J. Davis,
and

Signature Gain Express Trust, DTE 06/22/2022
(An Irrevocable Express Trust Organization),
Harol Alezu Lozano Moran, Sole Trustee,
Defendants,

RECEIVED
Feb 17 2026
SC Court of Appeals

of which **Erica Lynn Davis and Austin J. Davis** are the Appellants.

Appeal From the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas
Appellate Case No. **2025-002218**

Opening Brief

Presented by:
Austin J. Davis
EricaLynn Davis

Self Represented

Date: February 15, 2025

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from a Final Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale entered in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on September 24, 2025. This Court's jurisdiction is invoked pursuant to 1978 Act No. 587, § 2, 1985 Act No. 100, § 1 (codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330), which grants the Court of Appeals jurisdiction to review final judgments. This appeal is timely filed in conjunction with a motion for permission to file Initial Brief and Designation of Matter outside the deadlines prescribed by Rules 208 and 240, SCACR.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court violated Appellants' due process rights by entering a foreclosure judgment based on a series of unsupported judicial presumptions—including the admissibility of unauthenticated documents, the conclusive effect of a verified complaint, and the notion that a co-defendant's default cures a failure to prove standing—thereby depriving Appellants of a meaningful opportunity to be heard and to present a defense.
2. Whether the circuit court violated Appellants' equal protection rights by applying a dual system of evidentiary rules, accepting the plaintiff's pleadings and copies as conclusive proof while systematically excluding and refusing to adjudicate Appellants' evidence requests and subsequent defenses challenging authenticity, ownership, and consideration.

3. Whether the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to enter an Order of Reference and a final judgment where the plaintiff's standing to foreclose was properly challenged by the equitable titleholder of record and never proven with competent, admissible evidence.
4. Whether the trial Court erred in considering and ruling on a Motion for Summary Judgment before discovery enabled Appellant to acquire information to prove the Appellee's standing
5. Whether the trial Court erred in finding that Appellees had standing to foreclose.
6. Whether the trial Court erred in concluding there were no genuine issues of disputed fact.
7. Whether the trial Court erred in accepting hearsay testimony from opposing counsel via affidavit.
8. Whether Appellee is entitled to attorney fees and costs.
9. Whether the trial court erred in ordering and executing the subsequent auction, sale, and pending removal of Appellants and their property.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Appellee is an alleged secondary mortgage servicer, who allegedly obtained the subject Note and Mortgage from the original servicer, Synovus.
2. Appellee was allegedly assigned this Note and Mortgage on May 15, 2025 with the alleged transfer becoming effective that same day. (R. at 38-42).

3. Appellee filed a foreclosure complaint in the Circuit Court on June 18, 2025. (R. at 6-10). Subsequently, Appellant's were served on June 26, 2025.
4. Appellants, trustees for the equitable titleholder of record, SIGNATURE GAIN EXPRESS TRUST, filed a Petition to Dismiss and a Verified Counterclaim on July 24, 2025 (R. at 56-63) and (R. at 49-55) respectively¹, challenging Appellee's standing and demanding an evidentiary hearing to authenticate documents and prove chain of title, and substantiate the assertions presented within the counterclaim. This filing was timely under applicable court rule 12(a) SCRCF.
5. The counterclaim directly preserves a defense that Plaintiff "negligently misrepresented the existence and enforceability of the note, its right to enforce, and the timing of the debt acquisition, causing confusion and legal injury." (R. at 7,8)(References added in respect to order mentioned).
6. The Petition to Dismiss contained a prayer for relief that requested the court hold a Rule 43 Hearing to validate the documents the Plaintiff presented into evidence by a competent and unbiased third party. (R. at 62-63).
7. The circuit court entered an Order of Reference on July 30, 2025, while these challenges were pending "[in order to] make findings of fact and conclusions of law; dispose of any and all issues and enter a final judgment in the case;...". (R. at 74).
8. Appellee subsequently moved for summary judgment. (R. at 94-95).
9. Following the aforementioned hearing at which only Appellee's counsel appeared and no witnesses or properly authenticated admissible evidence were presented.

10. On September 24, 2025, before the Order of Judgment was entered, Appellants filed an Emergency Rule 43 Motion (R. at 125-128), as well as a Motion to Compel Evidence. (R. at 130-135). Order was filed on that same day, but chronologically later.

11. Following this hearing the Master in Equity entered a Final Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale on September 24, 2025. This appeal timely follows.

12. The Master's Order of Foreclosure, entered September 24, 2025, states it relied on "closing documents (R. at 140)... show that the money for the loan went to purchase the subject property" and "what appears to be the original of the Promissory Note" displayed in court. (R. at 140).

13. The Order further declares "no material fact in dispute" while ignoring Appellants' pending, verified challenges. (R. at 140-141).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The material facts are procedural and revolve around the evidence that was *not* presented. Appellee's claim rests entirely on copies of a note, mortgage, and assignment attached to its Summons and Complaint as Exhibits A, B, and C. (R. at 13-42); and that they had been assigned a "[valid] debt secured thereby." (R. at 7). Appellants, appearing specially and not generally as trustees for the titled owner, specifically challenged the authenticity of these documents, the validity of the assignment, and the proof of consideration/ existence of the alleged debt. Appellants filed a Petition to Dismiss and a Verified Counterclaim, which included demands for a

hearing pursuant to Rule 43, S.C. R. Civ. P., to compel Appellee to meet its burden of proof. (R. at 50-53).

The Master's Order of Foreclosure, entered September 24, 2025, states it relied on "closing documents... show that the money for the loan went to purchase the subject property" and "what appears to be the original of the Promissory Note" displayed in court. (R. at 140). The closing documents were never admitted into evidence rather only emailed to the Master and the Appellants from the Appellee at the Master's request. (R. at 176-177) No witness testified as to their authenticity, no custodian affidavit was provided, and absolutely no foundation was laid under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. The Order further declares "no material fact in dispute" while ignoring Appellants' pending, verified challenges. (R. at 140-141). It notes the individual borrowers were in default but proceeds to foreclose against the Trust without a finding, **based on admissible evidence**, that Appellee is the holder of the original note entitled to enforce it against the Trust. (R. at 142). The Order dismisses Appellants' counterclaims in a single sentence as "without merit," without any analysis or findings of fact. (R. at 148).

The documents requested for review in the Appellants' petition (R. at 62,63), memorandum (R. at 107-108), and motion(s) (R. at 126,127, 131-134) are not obscure or fictional documents. They are required by either Federal Statute, a Federally organized and controlled bureaucracy or regulatory agency, the IRS, Trust law, accounting practices or prior precedent. The Appellants also have a right to this

information, as their name is on the account, the pledged collateral, and the subsequent collateral account opened upon the deposit of said collateral.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal presents questions of constitutional due process, subject-matter jurisdiction, the admissibility of evidence, and the trial court's failure to make findings of fact as required by Rule 52(a), SCRPC. Each issue carries its own well-established standard of review.

Constitutional questions, including whether the proceedings violated the Due Process Clause or the Equal Protection Clause, are reviewed **de novo**. *Snow v. Smith*, 321 S.C. 548, 551, 470 S.E.2d 573, 575 (Ct. App. 1996) (constitutional due process violations are reviewed without deference). Whether a litigant received a "meaningful opportunity to be heard" is a pure question of law. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976).

Standing and **subject-matter jurisdiction** are also reviewed **de novo**, as they are questions of law that may be raised at any stage of the proceedings. *In re Foreclosure of G & H Land Co.*, 389 S.C. 520, 525, 698 S.E.2d 823, 826 (Ct. App. 2010); *Roche v. Young Bros.*, 318 S.C. 207, 210, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995).

Evidentiary rulings, including the admission of unauthenticated documents and the refusal to hold a Rule 43 evidentiary hearing, are reviewed for **abuse of discretion**, but that discretion "is constrained by the Rules of Evidence." *J.K. Constr. v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C. 162, 170, 519 S.E.2d 561, 565 (Ct. App. 1999). Evidence not

properly authenticated “is not admissible,” and reliance on such evidence constitutes reversible error. *Concrete Servs., Inc. v. USF&G Co.*, 331 S.C. 506, 510, 498 S.E.2d 865, 867 (1998).

A trial court’s **failure to make findings of fact and conclusions of law** under Rule 52(a), SCRPC, is reviewed **as a matter of law**, because adequate findings are necessary to permit appellate review. *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 161, 168, 785 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2016). A conclusory order unsupported by specific factual findings requires reversal. *Feliciano v. Alibaugh*, 373 S.C. 318, 322, 644 S.E.2d 271, 273 (Ct. App. 2007).

To the extent the foreclosure judgment rests on **legal conclusions**—including the determination of holder status, the legal sufficiency of an allonge, or the effect of federal statutory provisions—those questions are reviewed **de novo**. *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Smith*, 398 S.C. 565, 568, 730 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2012).

Finally, whether the court applied an **unequal or inconsistent procedural standard** in violation of the Equal Protection Clause is reviewed **de novo**, as it presents a pure question of constitutional law. *Hewins*, 409 S.C. at 102, 761 S.E.2d at 23.

ARGUMENT(s)

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT VIOLATED DUE PROCESS BY ADOPTING A SERIES OF UNSUPPORTED PRESUMPTIONS THAT DEPRIVED APPELLANTS OF A MEANINGFUL OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD AND TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

Due process requires that a deprivation of property be preceded by notice and **“the opportunity to be heard ‘at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.’”**

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976). Here, the circuit court circumvented this requirement at every turn, employing a cascade of presumptions to relieve Appellee of its burden of proof and to block Appellants' defenses. A "presumption is a procedural device that allocates the burden of production... [It] does not alter the burden of persuasion, nor does it 'possess [an] independent evidentiary value.'" *Reves v. Ernst & Young*, 494 U.S. 56, 66 (1990). The court's judgment, however, treats Appellees' presumptions as conclusive facts, violating both procedural rules and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, § 9 of the South Carolina Constitution.

A. The Court Presumed the Admissibility of Unauthenticated and Incomplete Documents, Violating Foundational Rules of Evidence and the Right to Confront Proof

The Master's Order explicitly bases its finding of indebtedness on "closing documents" and an in-court display of what "appears to be the original of the Promissory Note." (R. at 140). Additionally, the conclusion drawn from what appear[ed] to be the original was contradictory and drawn from an ambiguous presentation of the note itself within the hearing. The master asked the opposing counsel "do you have a **copy of the original Note with you?**". The response was "yes"; confirming that this was in fact a copy. (R. at 163). Then the master began exhibiting confusion on precisely *what* he had asked for. The appellants pointed out and wanted clarification for the record on whether the document was a copy or the original. (R. at 163). The master responded that he had indeed asked the attorney for the original and was given that very original to inspect. (R. at 163). Two distinct things pointed out by the appellants were that: (a) the note was **not under** notary seal, (R. at 164); (b) the chain of

assignment (by reference) seemed to be missing. The validity of the document's original nature was clearly questioned by the appellants. The court's conclusion was drawn from this in court display, and emailed copies of the closing documents. This conclusion rests on a critical and erroneous presumption: **that these documents were admissible** in the first place to conclusively **prove the debt** without any qualifying foundational testimony or certification, that this was indeed an original document, **and that the subsequent assignment of such documents were consistent with governing statutes regarding transfer rights of** . This presumption is irreconcilable with the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and binding precedent.

The Plaintiff presented a document it represented to be the "original" note, but that document **did not include the allonges or endorsements**, nor any additional pages reflecting a lawful and complete chain of title. Under South Carolina's adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code, an endorsement must be "written on the instrument or on a paper **affixed to the instrument.**" S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-204(a). A purported allonge not physically attached to the original note is legally ineffective. Because the Plaintiff failed to produce an affixed allonge—and instead presented an incomplete instrument—the Plaintiff failed to establish itself as the "holder" under § 36-3-301 and therefore could not enforce the note as a matter of law.

South Carolina appellate precedent confirms that a foreclosing party must prove ownership of **both** the note and the mortgage through competent, authenticated evidence. In *Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 221, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013), the Court held that a plaintiff must prove its status as the lawful owner of the

note and that “mere allegations are insufficient.” A note with no affixed endorsement, and no accompanying evidence of proper transfer, fails to satisfy this burden. South Carolina courts have repeatedly rejected efforts to enforce instruments where the purported chain of title is incomplete or contested. See also *HSBC Mortg. Servs. v. Murphy*, 420 S.C. 642, 804 S.E.2d 720 (2017) (foreclosing party must present competent evidence of assignment). Because the Plaintiff did not produce the actual allonge or any affixed endorsements when confronted with an authenticity challenge, the trial court’s acceptance of the incomplete note violated Rules 901, 1002, and 1003, SCRE, and deprived Appellants of their right to a proper evidentiary foundation.

Courts nationwide interpreting the identical UCC provision have uniformly rejected unattached or suspiciously loose allonges. The Second Circuit in *Slutsky v. Blooming Grove*, 281 A.D. 2d 764 (N.Y. App. Div. 2001), held that an allonge “must be so firmly affixed to the note as to become part of it,” and invalidated a loose endorsement offered in litigation. The Florida Third District Court of Appeal, citing the same UCC rule adopted in South Carolina, reversed a foreclosure where an allonge was not proven to have been affixed at the time of transfer. *Riggs v. Aurora Loan Servs.*, 36 So. 3d 932, 933–34 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). Numerous jurisdictions—including Massachusetts, New Jersey, and federal bankruptcy courts—have reached the same conclusion: **a free-floating allonge, is insufficient to prove transfer or standing.** These authorities are persuasive because South Carolina has adopted the same UCC text and applies it with equal rigor in determining holder status and admissibility.

Because Plaintiff's in-court presentation, claimed as the purported "original" note was **incomplete**, with **no affixed allonge**, and because the Master-in-Equity relied on this defective instrument despite a preserved authenticity objection (by way of pointing out an incomplete chain of title transfers (R. at 156-158), the order of foreclosure rests on inadmissible and legally insufficient evidence. Under *Draper, Murphy*, and § 36-3-204(a), the failure to produce an affixed allonge is fatal to standing and constitutes reversible error. The judgment must therefore be vacated because Plaintiff failed to prove it was the lawful holder of the original note at any time, and the court lacked evidence sufficient to sustain foreclosure.

Authentication is "a condition precedent to admissibility," **requiring** "evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." S.C. R. Evid. 901(a). The best evidence rule further requires the **original writing to prove its contents**. S.C. R. Evid. 1002. These rules, promulgated under authority of Act of February 15, 1870, No. 275, § 2, 1870 S.C. Acts 387, 388, **are not mere technicalities but foundational safeguards against inaccuracy and fraud**. *First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) ("The purpose of the best evidence rule is to prevent inaccuracy and fraud when attempting to prove the contents of a document."). The record is devoid of any custodian testimony, Rule 902 certification, or foundational affidavit that would satisfy Act of June 14, 1995, No. 83, § 3, 1995 S.C. Acts 374, 376. No credible and knowledgeable witness was presented to authenticate the "closing documents" or the alleged original note displayed in court.

Rather the only testimony obtained in the pleadings or the hearing was that of the Plaintiff's counsel. (R. at 164-167, 96-97)

By presuming admissibility from a bare in-court display and unattested copies, the court denied Appellants any opportunity to cross-examine a witness, challenge the documents' provenance, or test their validity – all avenues that would have been made available within a Rule 43 hearing. This presumption transformed a procedural safeguard into a nullity. *Snow v. Smith*, 321 S.C. 548, 551, 470 S.E.2d 573, 575 (Ct. App. 1996) (reviewing due process violations de novo). **As this Court has held, “[i]f evidence is not properly authenticated, it is not admissible.”** *Concrete Servs., Inc. v. USF&G Co.*, 331 S.C. 506, 510, 498 S.E.2d 865, 867 (1998). A court's discretion in admitting evidence is “limited by the rules of evidence.” *J.K. Constr. v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C. 162, 170, 519 S.E.2d 561, 565 (Ct. App. 1999). Where, as here, no foundation is laid and the reliance on inadmissible materials as the basis for judgment is a clear abuse of that discretion and a denial of due process. *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 558, 799 S.E.2d 479, 484 (Ct. App. 2017). The challenge of admissibility was also raised by the Appellants in the hearing (R. at 156) as well as within the pleadings (R. at 50, 57-62, 102-103, 107-108, 114-115, 126, 131-132)

B. The Court Presumed Material Facts Were Undisputed by Ignoring Verified Challenges, Violating Rule 52(a) and the Requirement for Specific Findings

The Master's Order declares “no material fact in dispute” based solely on “Plaintiff's verified Complaint... Affidavit of Debt... with supporting exhibits” (R. at 141) [and] loan documents.” This constitutes a second, fatal presumption: that a verified

complaint and an affidavit are sufficient to resolve a case on the merits, even when specific, verified counter-pleadings have placed authenticity, ownership, and consideration directly in controversy. This presumption violates both the rule of law and due process.

Rule 52(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure commands that in nonjury matters, the court “**shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law.**” Its purpose is to facilitate meaningful appellate review. *Goldman v. Alk*, 422 S.C. 429, 437, 812 S.E.2d 488, 492 (Ct. App. 2018). This requirement **is not satisfied** by a conclusory recitation that no facts are disputed. Appellants’ Petition to Dismiss and Verified Counterclaim specifically challenged the authenticity of the loan documents, the validity of the assignment, and the proof of consideration. These were not “unverified, conclusory allegations,” *Doe v. Roe*, 421 S.C. 490, 498, 807 S.E.2d 695, 699 (Ct. App. 2017), but specific demands for proof that created genuine disputes of material fact.

The court’s presumption that Appellee’s pleadings and exhibits were sufficient proof is directly contrary to law. As held in *First Union*, **a party “must do more than simply rely on the allegations of its pleadings to carry its burden of proof.”** 333 S.C. at 566, 511 S.E.2d at 378. In the foreclosure context, this burden includes proving “the mortgage and note are held by the plaintiff.” *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Smith*, 398 S.C. 565, 568, 730 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2012). **An affidavit of debt, if unsupported by proper business records foundation, is inadmissible hearsay.** *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 221, 746 S.E.2d 478, 481 (Ct. App. 2013); S.C. R. Evid. 801(c), 803(6). The

legislative framework for foreclosure, Act of March 22, 1932, No. 794, § 1, 1932 S.C. Acts 1185, 1185-86, **requires a judicial finding of the debt and default based on evidence properly authenticated.** By declaring no material fact in dispute without making specific findings on these contested issues, the court violated Rule 52(a) and deprived Appellants of their due process right to a reasoned adjudication of their defenses.

C. The Court Presumed a Co-Defendant's Default Cured the Plaintiff's Failure to Prove Standing Against the Appearing Equitable Titleholder, a Jurisdictional Error

The Order notes the individual borrowers were in default but proceeds to judgment against the Signature Gain Express Trust, the record titleholder that had actively appeared (by and through its trustees) and contested the action. (R. at 56). This reflects a third erroneous presumption: that a co-defendant's default relieves a plaintiff of its burden to establish standing against a **non-defaulting party** who has specifically challenged it. This is a jurisdictional error of constitutional dimension.

1. The First Amendment Petition and the Special Appearance Negated Any Presumption of Submission to Jurisdiction

On July 24, 2025, the docketed equitable titleholder, SIGNATURE GAIN EXPRESS TRUST, filed a Petition to Dismiss that expressly stated: "NOW COMES Petitioner... appearing specially, not generally, and without granting jurisdiction." (R. at 56). **This filing invoked the First Amendment right "to petition the Government for a redress of grievances."** U.S. Const. amend. I. It was a precise legal act: **a special appearance conditioned solely on the court's adjudication of the jurisdictional challenge under Rule 12(b)(1) and Rule 12(h)(3), SCRPC.**

The court and plaintiff presumed that this act constituted a general appearance waiving jurisdictional objections. This presumption is a legal error. The right to petition permits access to the courts without compelled surrender of constitutional defenses. *McDonald v. Smith*, 472 U.S. 479, 482-84 (1985). A party may appear specially to contest jurisdiction without submitting to the court's general power. See *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc.*, 318 S.C. 207, 210, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995) (jurisdictional defects can be raised at any time). The Trust's express reservation negated any inference of consent. Due process forbids a court from presuming consent to adjudicatory power not established on the record. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. **By proceeding to the merits while this special-appearance petition was pending, the court acted without jurisdiction.**

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