RECEIVED

May 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2025-002218

Robert Barnett, as Trustee of the RH 401(k) Plan, Respondent,

v.

Erica Lynn Davis, Austin J. Davis, and
Signature Gain Express Trust, DTE 06/22/2022
(An Irrevocable Express Trust Organization),
Harol Alezu Lozano Moran, Sole Trustee, Defendants,

of which Erica Lynn Davis and Austin J. Davis,Appellants.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ROBERT BARNETT,
AS TRUSTEE OF THE RH 401(k) PLAN**

J. Kershaw Spong (5289)
C. Elizabeth Weston (103305)

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

ARGUMENT

As an initial matter, Appellants are not the proper party to bring this appeal as they were in default in the underlying action. Additionally, Appellants do not meaningfully dispute the Master in Equity's findings that there is a debt due and owing from E. Davis on account of the Note and Mortgage which was to be satisfied by the foreclosure sale of the subject property. Instead, Appellants attempt to re-assert unfounded arguments as to standing which were either rejected or not ruled on by the Master in Equity. (Order). Because the equity court did not rule on this issue, it is not preserved for appellate review. *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 41, 619 S.E.2d 437, 449 (Ct. App. 2005). Alternatively, even if the issue was preserved, the Master in Equity correctly issued its foreclosure order on summary judgment because Respondent sufficiently proved that there was a debt secured by the subject property and that it was the holder of the debt instrument. (Order).

Appellants also attempt to improperly set forth new outlandish arguments as to the nature of the debt which were not presented at the foreclosure hearing and were not ruled on by the Master in Equity. (Transcript, Order). Even if preserved, these arguments must be dismissed as the theories that have been repeatedly rejected by courts. *Webb v. EquiFirst Corp.*, Civil Action No. 7:15-cv-00413, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 43051, at *17 (W.D. Va. Mar. 31, 2016).

I. Appellants do not have standing to bring this Appeal.

The Notice of Appeal for this matter was filed by "Austin Davis and Erica Davis, Individually and as Trustees of the SIGNATURE GAIN EXPRESS TRUST." (Notice of Appeal). For the reasons explained herein, none of these parties had authority to appeal to Order. Further, the Initial Brief of Appellants was only submitted by Appellants E. Davis and A. Davis (Appellant Initial Brief).

a. Appellants were in default in the underlying action.

A party in default cannot appeal from a judgment against him or her. *Duncan v. Duncan*, 93 S.C. 487, 498, 76 S.E. 1099, 1102 (1913); *see also Odom v. Burch*, 52 S.C. 305, 307, 29 S.E. 726, 727 (1898)(“Unless provided for expressly by statute, no appeal can be taken from a judgment by default”). Instead, a defaulting party’s remedies are instead limited to a motion to set aside such default judgment. *Gillian v. Gillian*, 65 S.C. 129, 133, 43 S.E. 386, 387 (1903). “A party in default has three primary options: (1) do nothing pending the entry of judgment by default under Rule 55(b), SCRPC; (2) file an appearance under Rule 55(b)(2), SCRPC, in an attempt to protect its interests before the entry of judgment by default; or (3) request the entry of default be set aside pursuant to Rule 55(c), SCRPC.” *Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 635-36, 856 S.E.2d 150, 151 (2021).

Appellants did not appear in the underlying foreclosure action. (Affidavit of Default), (Tr. at 14: 13-14). E. Davis was the borrower under the Note in question, and both Appellants were mortgagors under the Mortgage. However, they do not have the option to appeal the Order of foreclosure or to dispute the judgment entered against them. “By suffering a default, the defaulting party is deemed to have admitted the truth of the plaintiff’s allegations and to have conceded liability.” *Roche v. Young Bros.*, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998). Further, Appellants did not file a Motion to set aside the sale or reconsider any underlying orders. Because they did not participate in the underlying action to dispute the underlying allegations, they do not have standing to appeal the judgment entered against them.

b. The Trust appeared without counsel in the underlying action, implicating it in the unauthorized practice of law.

“No person may either practice law or solicit the legal cause of another person or entity in this State unless he is enrolled as a member of the South Carolina Bar pursuant to applicable court rules, or otherwise authorized to perform prescribed legal activities by action of the Supreme Court of South Carolina.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-5-310. “Section 40-5-80 does not authorize a non-attorney trustee of a valid trust to represent the trust in the court of common pleas because the action would not be the trustee's “own cause” but rather that of the trust and its beneficiaries.” *Real Estate Unlimited, L.L.C. v. Rainbow Living Tr.*, No. 2004-UP-019, 2004 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 8, at *5 (Ct. App. Jan. 15, 4). A nonlawyer trustee cannot represent an entity in circuit or appellate courts. *Renaissance Enters., Inc. v. Summit Teleservices, Inc.*, 334 S.C. 649, 651 (1999).

The Express Trust filed numerous documents in the underlying case through its trustees, either E. Davis or A. Davis. *See generally* (Counterclaim, Motion to Dismiss, Objection to Entry of Order, Petition to Vacate, Emergency Motion, Motion to Compel, Notice of Appeal). All of these filings were improper as the alleged trustee cannot represent the Express Trust in legal proceedings. The Express Trust must be represented by an attorney. Therefore, the Express Trust should have been held in default, which would result in it not having grounds to appeal the Order. (Motion to Strike) (Tr. at 16: 13-16).

Even if it did have standing to appeal, the Express Trust did not submit the Initial Brief and has not appeared in this appeal through counsel or otherwise. (Appellant Initial Brief). Therefore, the Express Trust has not participated in this appeal and is not a party to whom Respondent hereby responds. The Express Trust was the record owner of the Subject Property prior to the foreclosure sale and did not move to set aside the sale.

II. The Master in Equity correctly found Respondent was entitled to an order of judgment and foreclosure on the underlying debt.

a. Respondent sufficiently proved the existence of an obligation owed by E. Davis and secured by the Subject Property.

Summary judgment shall be granted if “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” To default summary judgment, a non-moving party must present evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact and may not solely rely on assertion in pleadings, motions, and arguments that the allegations are defective. *United States Bank v. Meisner*, No. 2022-UP-237, 2022 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 418, at *6 (Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2022). South Carolina is a strict foreclosure state, and it’s foreclosure process is found in S.C. Code Sections 29-3-610, et seq.

Despite Appellants being in default and the Express Trust filing a Counterclaim and Motion Petition to Dismiss without counsel, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting Affidavit in the underlying action. (Motion for Summary Judgment, Affidavit). In the supporting Affidavit, Robert Barnett, as Trustee of Respondent, set forth the loan history and included copies of the loan documents to include the Note and Allonge, Mortgage, and Assignment. (Affidavit). The Affidavit also included a current accounting of the debt and attached a statement of account and payment history. (Affidavit). Neither Appellants, who did not appear in the underlying action, nor the Express Trust filed an opposing affidavit to contradict the evidence.

At the hearing on the merits, counsel for Respondent also presented the court with the original Note. (Tr. at 12: 11-14, 23-25; 13: 3-4). At the hearing, E. Davis confirmed that she had signed loan documents with Synovus, the original lender under the Note. (Tr. at 7: 21-23, 8: 23-

24). In exchange for the Note, E. Davis also confirmed at the hearing that “[t]here was a home received” (Tr. at 10: 13-14) and that a deed for the subject property was transferred to E. Davis and/or A. Davis. (Tr. at 11: 8-11). As outlined, Appellants purchased the Subject Property on the same day that the loan documents were executed. (Compl.) (2019 Deed). In response to arguments made by A. Davis at the hearing, counsel for Respondent also provided the Court and Appellants with a copy of the closing documents of the subject Note, which clearly showed that the money for the loan went to purchase the Subject Property. (Order). The Master in Equity correctly held that, from the record and evidence, there is no material fact in dispute, Appellants and the Express Trust have no defense, and Respondent is entitled to relief requested as a matter of law on the underlying debt. (Order.)

b. Underlying documents sufficient to evidence the debt and security were admitted into the record.

Business records are admissible into evidence as an exception to hearsay. The business record exception of S.C. R. Evid. 803(6) excludes from hearsay “[a] memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness . . .” *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 71, 773 S.E.2d 607, 614 (Ct. App. 2015). South Carolina Code Section 19-5-510 also notes that “a record of an act, condition or event shall, insofar as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.”

Appellants did not object to the admissibility of the underlying loan documents in the Affidavit but instead insisted that they were entitled to see original documents. Counsel for Respondent did bring the original copy of the Note to the hearing. (Tr. at 12: 11-14, 23-25; 13: 3-4). The Mortgage was recorded following the sale of the Subject Property to Appellants. (Compl.). Appellants have not disputed the authenticity of the Mortgage. The Master in Equity correctly held that the evidence before the court was sufficient to show the debt and the lien on the Subject Property. This is in line with other courts, who have routinely rejected this “show me the note” theory. *Blick v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, No. 3:11-cv-00081, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41266, at *15 (W.D. Va. Mar. 27, 2012). Appellants did not set forth any evidence to dispute the underlying documents. As a result, summary judgment was appropriate as there is not an issue of material fact as to Respondent’s allegations.

III. Appellant’s arguments as to the nature of the debt were not preserved for appeal.

In their Initial Brief, Appellants set forth arguments that the Note was “transformed” into a security and the debt “extinguished upon its deposit as ‘eligible paper’” such that it was satisfied. (Appellant Initial Brief). Because the Master in Equity did not rule on this issue, it is not preserved for appellate review. *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 41, 619 S.E.2d 437, 449 (Ct. App. 2005). Appellants did not raise these unfounded arguments at the hearing on the merits, and the Order does not include a ruling as to these issues. (Tr.) (Order). Additionally, neither Appellants nor the Express Trust filed a motion to alter or amend the Order to preserve the arguments. “If a party has raised an issue and the circuit court has not ruled upon it, a motion to alter or amend is required to preserve the issue for appellate review.” *S.C. Coastal Conservation League, Inc. v. Charleston Cty.*, 442 S.C. 409, 418-19, 899 S.E.2d 609, 614 (Ct. App. 2024) (quoting *Great Games, Inc. v.*

S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 339 S.C. 79, 85, 529 S.E.2d 6, 9 (2000)). As a result, the arguments under section III of Appellants' Initial Brief are not preserved for appeal.

Alternatively, even if it was preserved, the Master in Equity correctly disregarded the arguments that the debt has been "satisfied" under "federal accounting and securities law." (Appellant Initial Brief). These arguments have been repeatedly rejected by courts. *Webb v. EquiFirst Corp.*, Civil Action No. 7:15-cv-00413, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 43051, at *17 (W.D. Va. Mar. 31, 2016); *Upperman v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co.*, Civil Action No. 01:10-cv-149, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38827, at *5-6 (E.D. Va. Apr. 16, 2010) ("There is no legal authority that the sale or pooling of investment interests in an underlying note can relieve borrowers of their mortgage obligations or extinguish a secured party's rights to foreclose on secured property."); *Zambrano v. HSBC Bank USA, Inc.*, Civil Action No. 01:09-cv- 996, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 51371, 2010 WL 2105164, at *2 (E.D. Va. May 25, 2010), *aff'd*, 442 Fed. App'x. 861 (4th Cir. 2011) (per curiam). Similarly, this Court should reject these arguments from Appellants.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Court should affirm the Master in Equity's final judgment of foreclosure and sale in Respondent's favor.